
Mark Saccoccio  
Town Clerk  

  01525 631920 
      info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 

 

 
Council Chamber 

16 March 2023 
 
To:  Members of the Health Services Task and Finish Group (Councillors D Bowater, 
R Goodchild, V Harvey, S Jones, T Morris, S Owen and G Perham) 
(Copies to all Town Councillors for information) 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of Health Services Task and Finish 
Group to be held on Friday, 24 March 2023 commencing at 1.30 pm in the Council 
Chamber.  

 
M Saccoccio  
Town Clerk 

AGENDA 
 
1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 

 Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a record be kept of the 
Members present and that this record form part of the minutes of the meeting. 
Members who cannot attend a meeting should tender apologies to the Town 
Clerk. 
 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

 (i) The Localism Act 2011 and the Code of Conduct requires Councillors to 
declare any pecuniary interests, other registrable interests or sensitive 
interests in items on the meeting agenda, which are not already included 
in the Register of Interests. Members may choose to declare interests 
already listed in the Register for clarity and transparency. 

(ii) For disclosable pecuniary interests, Members must leave the room and 
not participate in discussion or voting, unless a dispensation has been 
granted. 

(iii) For other registrable or non-registrable interests which directly relate to 
the financial interest of a Member, a relative or close associate, 
councillors may speak on the matter only if members of the public may 
also speak at the meeting. Thereafter, Members should leave the room 
and not participate in discussion or voting, unless a dispensation has 
been granted.  

(iv) The Council/Committee/Sub-Committee is asked to consider approving 
any requests for dispensations to speak/vote on any agenda item in 
accordance with the Dispensations Procedure.  

 

THIS MEETING MAY 
BE RECORDED * 

Public Document Pack

mailto:info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/


HEALTH SERVICES TASK AND FINISH GROUP Friday, 24 March 2023 
 

 

 

  
3.   QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC (3 MINUTES PER PERSON; MAXIMUM 15 

MINUTES)  

 

 To receive questions and statements from members of the public in respect of 
any item of business included in the agenda, as provided for in Standing Order 
No.s 3 (e)(f)(g) and 3(h). 
 

4.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 4) 

 

 (a) To receive and approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting 
held on 5 December 2022 (attached).  

 
(b)  To receive information updates on any matters arising from the previous 

meeting. 
 

5.   HEALTH SERVICES IN LEIGHTON-LINSLADE (Pages 5 - 8) 

 

 (a)  To review events since the previous meeting (attached summary paper 
provided by Councillor S Owen) 

 
(b) To consider support for the Patient Participation Groups’ initiative for a 

draft services specification for a Leighton Buzzard health hub.  
 

6.   NEXT STEPS  

 

 To consider next steps and agree a date for the next meeting.  
 
*Phones and other equipment may be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog from this 
meeting by an individual Council member, officer or member of the public. No part of the 
meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves to go into exempt 
session. The use of images or recordings arising from this is not within the Council’s control. 
 

Task and Finish Group Aims (agreed 5 March 2020): 
 

1.     To press Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (BCCG) and Central Bedfordshire 
Council’s Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) to bring forward proposals urgently for a 
Leighton-Linslade Health Hub as part of a planned approach to improved localisation of 
hospital services for local residents and to secure the town’s fair share of Government 
investment in the localisation agenda. 
 2.     To press for the development of that Plan to include local GPs and professions ancillary, 
patient groups and the Town Council, to promote, encourage and support early and regular 
consultation with residents of the parish in terms of the services to be provided and the location 
of the Hub. 
 3.     To pursue, in consultation with the three groups mentioned above, that this 
comprehensive Plan shall include: 
(a)   A Leighton-Linslade Hub providing a range of services that are currently provided by 
hospitals or not at all 
(b)   The accommodation and investment requirements of existing GP surgeries in the town 
(c)   Planned GP surgeries serving the new developments on the eastern side of the town and 
also Linslade residents, who used to have two GP surgeries but now had non 
 



   
   

Page 30 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

HEALTH SERVICES TASK AND FINISH GROUP 
 

MONDAY 5 DECEMBER 2022 AT 1000 HOURS  
 

Present: Councillors  G Perham – in the Chair 
  V Harvey 
  S Owen 
  R Goodchild 
  S Jones 
  T Morris 
          

                      Also in attendance:       M Saccoccio (Town Clerk) 
  S Sandiford (Deputy Town Clerk) 
  M Jahn (Committee Officer) 
  A Selous, MP South-West Bedfordshire –  
  joining remotely  

M Prior, Leighton Road Surgery Patient 
Participation Group 
 

       Members of the Public:   0  
 
 
46/HS APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor D Bowater, from 
Central Bedfordshire Councillor T Stock, from E Griffith of the Bassett Road 
Surgery Patient Participation Group and from the Chief Medical Director of 
BLMK Integrated Care Board (ICB).  
 

47/HS DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

Councillor R Goodchild declared a personal interest as Chair of Salisbury House 
GP Practice Patient Participation Group.  
 
No pecuniary declarations were made or dispensations requested. 

 
48/HS QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 

 Councillor Owen raised a question as a member of the public, as to whether the 
group should consider including dentistry in its terms of reference.  

 
 49/HS MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

(a) The Task and Finish Group received the minutes of the Health Services 
Task and Finish Group meeting held on 1 September 2022. 
 
Minute reference 45/HS: a minor amendment to the wording of one sentence 
was proposed and accepted by the group.  

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Health Services Task & Finish Group 5 DECEMBER   2022 
                                                                                                                                                                            
 

Page 31 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Health Services Task and Finish Group 
meeting held 1 September 2022 be approved as a correct record, subject 
to the agreed amendment to one sentence, and were signed accordingly. 
 
(b)  Updates arising from previous meeting: 
 
The Task and Finish Group received a brief report outlining the resolutions 
made by the Group at its previous meetings during 2022, actions taken and any 
progress or updates.  
 
It was agreed that it was disappointing that no formal responses had been 
received to correspondence sent in April 2022 and September 2022 to the 
healthcare authority and local authority. 
 
The group noted that the “stocktake report” requested by the Central 
Bedfordshire Health and Wellbeing board (HWB) on 13 July 2022 in response 
to the report submitted by the Town Council had resulted in the presentation of 
a “Fuller stocktake report” to the HWB on 19 October 2022. This “Fuller 
stocktake report” was based on the national report by Dr Claire Fuller in respect 
of next steps for integrating primary care, but had not addressed the points 
raised in the Town Council report, with no specific information or focus on 
Leighton-Linslade. 
 

50/HS HEALTH SERVICES IN LEIGHTON-LINSLADE 
 

(a) Update from the local Member of Parliament 
 
Mr A Selous gave a brief report on the meeting he had held with various parties 
on 26 September 2022, at which he had asked the Primary Care Network to 
come up with a plan to make progress with expanded healthcare services. This 
had been followed up with a meeting with Dr J Henderson on 25 November and 
a visit to the Bassett Road clinic (referred to as the “Leighton-Linslade health 
centre”). It was understood that around fifteen additional Primary Care staff had 
recently started work or would be starting soon and that there was a commitment 
to opening up another seven consulting rooms in the town. It was acknowledged 
that more General Practitioners and other medical staff were needed in the area. 
The MP had asked the healthcare service for the return of an ultrasound service 
to the town and would continue to press for improvements in local healthcare 
provision, as well as the need to ensure adequate funding to meet the 
infrastructure needs of new housing developments nationally. 
 
Whilst group members welcomed the news of additional consulting rooms and 
the greater use of the Bassett Road clinic building, concerns were expressed 
that it was confusing for patients to have services spread widely and that this 
was also inefficient.  
 
Disappointment was expressed that the meeting on 26 September 2022 had not 
included any councillors or members of the public. In addition, concerns were 
raised regarding lack of progress towards a fourth GP surgery or a health hub, 
lack of progress with decentralisation of healthcare services, a lack of basic 

Page 2



Health Services Task & Finish Group 5 DECEMBER   2022 
                                                                                                                                                                            
 

Page 32 

services such as ear syringing and the overall lack of engagement with 
members of the public.  
 
Mr Selous stated that the priority needed to be finding realistic and practical 
ways forward which could be delivered quickly, as patients needed access to 
services now rather than waiting for years. He agreed with the need for services 
such as ear wax removal and agreed that a clear public message was needed 
from the BLMK ICB regarding direction of travel. It was understood that there 
was no capital funding for a health hub building, the cost of which had been 
estimated in 2018-19 at £12million and was likely to now be significantly higher 
due to rising construction costs.  
 
A view was expressed that the proposed cost of building a health hub would be 
small compared with the annual budget for healthcare provision and could save 
residents a significant amount of time and money in travel to hospitals. Another 
view was expressed that the ICB should be asked to clarify how its funding was 
being spent to best benefit residents.  

 
(b) Updates from other group members 

 
The representative of the Leighton Road Surgery Patient Participation Group 
advised that lots of small projects were anticipated to help reduce pressure on 
hospitals, following a model in Herts & West Essex, for example the possible 
diversion of 999 calls to community providers for an initial triage process.  

 
(c) Report on an alternative approach from Councillor V Harvey 

 
The Task and Finish Group had received a report in advance of the meeting. It 
was suggested that a physical “health hub” building might not meet the town’s 
needs even if it could be delivered, for three main reasons:  
 
1 – that the three GP practices were unlikely to want to co-locate in one building 
as each business had invested in its own premises 
2 – that the building might not address the decentralisation of hospital services 
3 – the need to consider the growing role of the community/voluntary sector in 
supporting the health and wellbeing of residents through social prescribing 
 
It was felt that progress towards expanding healthcare services and 
preventative medicine could be made without a physical hub building, but by 
increased direct engagement with the town’s GP practices, patient participation 
groups and other relevant parties to better understand exactly what was needed 
and consider potential solutions. It was possible that existing buildings could in 
future be repurposed or that development on land south of the High Street could 
help provide additional space for healthcare services.  
 
It was suggested that secondary care, i.e. hospitals should also be involved in 
discussions to determine areas of greatest pressure and which services could 
realistically be moved into the community.  
 
 
 

Page 3



Health Services Task & Finish Group 5 DECEMBER   2022 
                                                                                                                                                                            
 

Page 33 

A view was expressed that the GPs themselves could determine what services 
were needed by patients and that the proposed approach would only work if 
there was space available in which to deliver additional services. It was felt that 
discussions should include the local GPs with their specialist knowledge, the 
ICB in terms of funding and residents themselves, to give their views about 
possible relocation of services.   
 
The potential to invite the ICB to a public meeting was suggested but it was felt 
that this might result more in people airing individual concerns and grievances 
rather than being a productive way forward.  

 
(d) To consider next steps 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Harvey that a meeting be set up to which 
representatives of the Primary Care network, Patient Participation Groups and 
the local hospital be invited, to put forward their views, discuss the needs of the 
town’s population and what evidence was available to support this and to 
consider which services could be delivered more locally.  
 
In discussion, it was suggested that the Patient Participation Groups lead on 
inviting representatives to the meeting, which the town council would facilitate.  
 
RESOLVED to invite the Patient Participation Groups to set up a meeting 
and to lead in encouraging local Primary and Secondary care network 
representatives to attend, and for the town council to facilitate that 
meeting.   

 
 
The meeting closed at 11:58 hours. 
 

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE RECORD 
OF THE MEETING HELD ON 5 DECEMBER 2022. 

  

 

Chair                                   TBC 

Page 4



LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL HEALTH TASK & FINISH GROUP 

DEVELOPMENTS SINCE LAST MEETING 5 DECEMBER 2022                                                  15 March 2023 

 
 

1. BACKGROUND 

a) CBC have placed the Leighton-Linslade Health Hub as bottom priority of their Hub 

programme. 

b) The BLMK ICB have refused to consider a new GP surgery in Eastern Leighton Buzzard or 

one in Linslade. 

c) 17 May 2022: Dr John Henderson, Director of the Leighton Buzzard PCN, confirmed to 

me that local GPs were short of space and supported the need for new surgeries and the 

Health Hub. 

d) Waiting lists at the three surgeries have ballooned and excessive appointment waiting 

times have become a growing problem for patients. 

e) 13 July 2022: the T&F Group submitted a paper to CBC’s H&WBB. The H&WBB, after a 

confused discussion, called for a “stocktake” report. [Note 1: this was later diverted by 

ICB officers into a report on a national “Fuller Stocktake” initiative unrelated to the 

issues raised in the Town Council’s paper]. 

f) 1 September 2022: the T&F Group discussed the Arcadis Strategic Outline Case. The 

Group agreed to write to stakeholders such as ICB and CBC with a series of Qs about 

progress with the SOC. [Note 2 : no replies have been received.] 

g) 26 September 2022: our MP called a private meeting (no councillors, patients, PPG reps 

or public present) to ascertain whether Leighton Buzzard GPs supported the Health Hub 

and additional surgeries, since he was being told of opposition. [Note 3:  at the public 

meeting on 9 January 2023) the GPs reaffirmed their support.]  The outcome of the 

meeting was a “plan” our MP had asked GPs to prepare.  [Note 4 : on 28.11.22 much 

later ICB announced  that this “plan” was for PCN growth a la Fuller Stocktake  – thus not 

directed to the priority issues of current surgery staffing, Health Hub or new GP 

surgeries].  

h) It should be noted that the effect of the 26.9.22 meeting was to create a hiatus in the 

momentum the T&F Group had generated through obtaining the Arcadis SOC and 

pressing CBC/H&WBB for action. That hiatus has effectively lasted until today’s meeting 

– six months of delay. 

 

2. T&F GROUP MEETING 5 DECEMBER 2022 

a) A Selous attended and updated on the ICB announcement and “15 new staff” to be 

housed at the old Bassett Road clinic under PCN auspices. [Note 5: there has been no 

confirmation of 15 new staff nor is there room at the Bassett Road clinic for such 

numbers.]  

b) The only outcome of this meeting was to invite participation from the PPGs at a future 

meeting for unspecified purposes. [Note 6: no such follow-up meeting has taken place.] 

 

3. BLMK ICB ANNOUNCEMENT 12 JANUARY 2023 

That no money would be made available for a Leighton Health Hub or new GP surgeries in 

the forseeable future. Decision was made at ICB meeting 11.1.23 arranged at less than 24 

hours’ notice. Announcement greeted with local outrage.  SO visited the CBC Overview & 

Scrutiny Committee at Chicksands on 16.1.23 and asked ten questions. I have yet to receive 

any answers. 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL HEALTH TASK & FINISH GROUP 

DEVELOPMENTS SINCE LAST MEETING 5 DECEMBER 2022                                                  15 March 2023 

 
4. PUBLIC MEETING IN THE LIBRARY THEATRE 18 JANUARY 2023 

Town Cllrs Owen, Goodchild and Carberry organised this public meeting to protest the ICB 

decision and also call for action on a Police Contact Hub and a Neighbourhood Plan. A 

capacity audience (approx. 170) attended. As a result, nearly 3,000 residents have signed 

petitions calling for a Health Hub and new GP surgeries as a priority (along with a Police 

Contact Hub and a Neighbourhood Plan.) 

 

5. PUBLIC MEETING AT CEDARS SCHOOL 9 FEBRUARY 2023 

a) This meeting was organised by Andrew Selous MP. The platform party comprised several 

BLMK ICB reps, the Leader of CBC (Cllr Wenham) and Dr J Henderson, Director of the 

Leighton Buzzard PCN.  Approx. 300 members of the public attended. 

b) Although the meeting was billed as about local GP capacity, there was fierce criticism 

from the public about the failure to plan Leighton Buzzard Health facilities such as the 

Hub and new GP surgeries, and the failure to consults the public/patients. 

c) Our MP raised the prospect of progress towards funding new Health facilities via the use 

or disposal of land in Vandyke Road, Leighton Buzzard.  His suggestion was gratefully 

seized on by Cllr Wenham. 

d) Our MP also suggested that the BLMK ICB ought to be able to find £30m for Leighton-

Linslade Health facilities from its annual £1.7 bn budget.  The ICB reps offered no 

response and made no comment on future LeightonBuzzard health facilities. 

e) No specific promises of action were made at the meeting. 

 

6. EVENTS SINCE 9.2.23 

a) 16.2.23: I messaged our MP asking him to 

 Produce immediate action to improve GP and nurse shortages at the three L-L GP 

surgeries 

 Lead a local deputation to CBC to press for supportive (to L-L) action to produce 

proper challenge to BLMK ICB at the H&WBB/O&S Cttee, and on the failing 

infrastructure planning process 

 Press BLMK ICB to public espouse active public consultation with L-L PPGs 

 Demand that ICB/CBC produce a financial plan for the L-L Health Hub and GP 

surgeries that places the Vandyke Road land in context, i.e. as meeting 4% of the 

capital costs 

I haven’t received a reply. 

 

b) 27.2.23: this Council’s P&F Cttee rejected 3-2 a Motion calling on our MP to pursue 

improved Leighton Health facilities, i.e. 

 Action by him now to improve doctor and nurse recruitment 

 Acknowledging that the Vandyke Road land will only fund a tiny proportion of the 

funds needed for a Hub and surgeries 

 Securing a public statement from ICB to real public consultation 

 Securing Government action to press ICB to change its spending priorities over its 

£1.7 billion per annum budget 

Page 6



LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL HEALTH TASK & FINISH GROUP 

DEVELOPMENTS SINCE LAST MEETING 5 DECEMBER 2022                                                  15 March 2023 

 

 Changing his emphasis from holding secret meetings to fronting public protest 

 Pressing CBC to replace its failing infrastructure planning process. 

 

The Committee instead supported a Motion calling for a Ministerial meeting, 

although SO quoted a Health Minister letter to our MP dated 2.9.2021 saying 

decisions on local health priorities and funding were a matter for the local NHS (then 

CCGs, now ICBs.).  Nothing further is known. 

 

c)   3.3.23: ICB managers met reps of the three PPGs at the Town Council offices. Some 

improvement in the ICB willingness to consult was apparent.   

d) However an ICB manager repeated that the ICB would not provide a new 4th GP surgery 

and again pushed forward the “Fuller Stocktake” agenda. She was challenged hard on 

her 4th surgery intransigence. 

e) At the same meeting our MP reiterated that the sale of the Vandyke Road land would 

provide funding for the Health Hub and new surgeries. However it was pointed out that, 

if sold, the land might yield maybe £2m, but that £50m was needed to build the Hub and 

Surgeries (without considering annual running costs). Our MP made no suggestion as to 

where the remaining £48m plus running costs might be sourced. It was also pointed out 

that the Vandyke Road land might be suitable for a GP surgery but that a town Health 

Hub needed to be located centrally.  

f) The meeting resolved to produce an agreed statement of desired services for a Leighton 

Buzzard Health Hub. 

g) 9.3.23: our MP issued a Press Release re the Vandyke Road land. The wording of the PR 

is confusing insofar as  

 it conflates three separate urgent Leighton Buzzard healthcare needs, i.e.  

“including the expansion of general practice (4th and 5th surgeries needed), 

community health, mental health (both currently PCN services), reablement (?) 

and hospital outpatient services (part of the Health Hub agenda).” This 

confused wording and the mixing of three separate needs has characterised 

previous announcements from both ICB and our MP 

 it states “There are several streams of revenue which will be provided by these 

facilities to service any additional capital costs of the buildings” – my 

understanding is that it is “these facilities” will not “provide streams of 

revenue”, contrarily they will require funding – and the sale of the Vandyke 

Road land will not provide “streams of revenue” but a one -off capital receipt.  

So what are these “streams of revenue”? 

 It says nothing about the missing 96% capital funding gap, nor how running 

costs (here the words “revenue streams” will become appropriate) are to be 

funded. 

The Press Release tries to offer public reassurance whilst leaving unaddressed the 

reality of missing tens of millions of pounds of umpromised and unplanned 

funding. It leaves unchallenged the ICB’s refusal to destinate funding towards 

Leighton’s Health facilities in the three required directions, viz rectifying 

immediate GP/nurse shortages, Health Hub, and surgeries nos. 4 and 5.  Our MP 

states “I am delighted” but there is nothing here to delight Leighton Buzzard 

residents. The Press Release has the effect of stringing out the hiatus created by 

Page 7



LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL HEALTH TASK & FINISH GROUP 

DEVELOPMENTS SINCE LAST MEETING 5 DECEMBER 2022                                                  15 March 2023 

 
our MP’s calling of his 26 September 2022 meeting. Far from speeding up progress 

towards the needed Health facilities, our MP’s interventions are allowing BLMK 

ICB, aided by a supine CBC, to kick the can down the road. Exactly as happened 

with the much-wanted Community Hospital in 2012. 

 

7. CURRENT POSITION 

a) There is no shift in the BLMK ICB position of “no money, no priority”. ICB are prepared 

only to fund marginal gains in the medical ancillaries of the Fuller Stocktake report.  

b) There is no challenge to this intransigence from our MP or CBC. No clarion calls on ICB to 

reprioritise their spending decisions. 

c) Our MP’s current strategy to bring Vandyke Road into the reckoning will produce less 

than 5% of the capital costs of a Hub + surgeries and 0% of the running costs. His Press 

Release makes no mention of this huge funding gap but uses the chimera of the Vandyke 

Road land as a tiny figleaf to cover that gap. 

d) The town surgeries’ PPGs are producing a draft specification of services for a Health Hub 

since neither ICB nor CBC have shown any appetite to do so. 

e) The Town Council have received no reply to their paper to CBC H&WBB on 13 July 2022. 

f) The voice of the public who pay everyone’s salaries is being ignored.  

 

Steve Owen 

Town Councillor 

15 March 2023 

  

Page 8


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	5 HEALTH SERVICES IN LEIGHTON-LINSLADE

